



Item #6.

Staff Report 027-19

TO: Mayor and City Council
FROM: Eric Holmes, City Manager
DATE: 2/25/2019

SUBJECT Garbage, Yard Debris/Organics and Recycling Collection Rate Modifications and Other Solid Waste Code Updates to be effective April 1, 2019

Key Points

- Recent changes in global recycling markets have significantly impacted the costs for processing residential recyclables collected from throughout Clark County. As a result, Clark County will be approving a new processing fee of \$68.91 per ton, anticipated to be effective March 1, 2019, to be paid by Waste Connections when delivering commingled recyclables to the West Van Materials Recovery Facility.
- Vancouver, and other cities that set collection rates and are part of the regional solid waste system, will pass along this impact as a “recyclables processing surcharge” that will be added to single-family and multi-family customer bills.
- As presented at a February 4th Council workshop, the City’s collection contract with Waste Connections expires January 31, 2020. City Council directed staff to negotiate terms for a new contract with Waste Connections of Washington that will provide for organics collection (food scraps to be included in subscription yard debris service), which was a condition of a contract extension.
- Council will consider the new contract for adoption during the February 25 Council meeting. Part of the new contract requires rate adjustments.
- The proposed rate ordinance provides a number of rate modifications associated with implementation of the new contract though, generally, customer rates for most services will not change for the remainder of this year.
- Other language modifications are needed to update details of the City’s Garbage Disposal ordinance (VMC 6.12) in concert with the new contract and other minor housekeeping changes.
- Amend VMC 5.94.020, VMC 6.12.010, 6.12.020, 6.12.110, 6.12.115, 6.12.120, 6.12.130, 6.12.140, 6.12.161, 6.12.190, 6.12.201, 6.12.202, 6.12.203, 6.12.208, 6.12.209, 6.12.210, 6.12.211, 6.12.212, and 6.12.213 to modify language and solid waste rates effective April 1, 2019.

Strategic Plan Alignment

Goal 1, Objective 1.2: Ensure our infrastructure, including buildings and utilities, is safe, environmentally responsible and well maintained.

Present Situation

City Council is the rate-making authority for garbage, residential recycling, and yard debris/organics collection services within the City of Vancouver. The City contracts with a private hauling company, Waste Connections of Washington, to provide comprehensive garbage, recycling and yard debris collection services to residents and businesses within city limits. The existing contract, last updated on June 1, 2009, is scheduled to expire on January 31, 2020. In response to City Council direction, City staff has negotiated with Waste Connections and prepared a draft contract for City Council consideration. The contract is presented as a separate item on the February 25 agenda and a draft of the new contract is attached to the February 11 staff report. If the new contract is approved, then the full set of rate adjustments included in the subject ordinance are needed to implement the new contract on April 1, 2019. If the contract is sent back for revision or a decision is made to issue an RFP, then the ordinance would need to be modified, in which case, staff will come back to a future meeting with appropriate changes focused primarily on the new curbside and multifamily “recyclables processing surcharges”.

Recyclables Processing Surcharge/Reduced Revenue from Sale of Recyclables

The rate change of most consequence to single-family curbside and multi-family recycling customers is a new “recyclables processing surcharge” of \$1.77 per month for single-family households and \$0.78 per month per unit for multi-family complexes. This surcharge is independent of the new Waste Connections contract; however, there is also a \$0.19 per month added cost for single-family curbside recycling that is linked to the new contract and is explained further in the following section below. Clark County is expected to approve a \$68.91 per ton processing fee on residential recycling tons delivered to the West Van Material Recovery Center effective March 1, 2019. The calculated pass-through surcharge will not apply to City customer bills until April 1; consequently the monthly charge for the remainder of the year will be slightly higher than if the effective date was also on April 1. City staff worked closely with Clark County Public Health, Columbia Resource Company and Waste Connections to review and analyze the rationale and calculations for these surcharges and believes the amount of the fees are reasonable and appropriate to address the need for slower processing speeds and increased staffing at the processing facility as a means of responding to the changes in global recycling markets over the last year and a half. As reported in August when staff previewed this topic, recycling continues to be marketed, mostly domestically; however, revenue is much lower than in the past and this is recognized through changes to the new contract, discussed below, and also is a factor in establishing the new surcharge. Note that the surcharge varies between single-family and multi-family service due to variation in the typical volumes set out on an annual basis (554 pounds per year for single-family and 245 pounds per year for multi-family units).

Currently single-family customers’ bills for garbage service include \$3.01 per month for required recycling service. With the change in the contract and as a result of reduced revenue received by the City from the sale of processed materials, the City has reduced its per ton payments to Waste Connections from \$39.50 per ton to \$10.00 per ton of recyclables collected. This increases by \$0.69 per month the portion of collection costs that single-family residents pay; however, Waste Connections has agreed to partially offset the increase by \$0.50 per household per month. So the net increase to the basic single-family fee is \$0.19 per month effective April 1 bringing the cost to

\$3.20 per month which is included in the monthly garbage fee tied to the level of service. The recyclables processing fee surcharge discussed above (\$1.77/month) is added to this amount and will be identified separately on the bill – the total single-family recycling charge with the surcharge is \$4.97 per month. For multi-family complexes the recycling fee is currently at \$1.29 per month and does not change because Waste Connections is offsetting the increase by \$0.20; however, the \$0.78 surcharge will bring the total cost to \$2.07 per month for multi-family units.

Organics Rates

A key new service in the contract is for expansion of the existing subscription-based every-other-week yard debris program (offered at the curb for residential customers) to include food scraps. This will be implemented six months after the new contract starts (October 1) allowing six months for planning, and development of outreach information. The fee for Organics collection (combined food scraps and yard debris) will be the same \$7.43 per month as the current yard debris only program (96-gallon volume). Rates will also be offered for reduced volumes of residential organics: \$6.43 per month for 64-gallons, \$5.43 for 32-gallons, and \$4.43 for 20-gallons. Once full Organics collection is offered the current “on-call” yard debris option/rate will no longer be offered. Commercial and multi-family Organics collection service at the curb will also be offered, beginning October 1, with the every-other-week option rate set at \$8.26 per month and a weekly option rate set at \$16.52 per month. Additional fees established for container garbage service will apply for those commercial or multi-family customers opting not to set carts at the curb. New drop box hauling rates, \$105.86 for non-compacted and \$117.62 for compacted, are also established for commercial customers selecting that service option, other existing drop box fees would apply when used.

Optional Commercial Recycling Pilot Program

The City has worked with Waste Connections over the last ten years to implement and expand a popular optional pilot commercial recycling program and has fully subsidized recycling service with carts, or up to a 3 cubic yard container, at a cost of \$26.00 per month per business serviced. With the new contract, the City's pilot program is being modified and the City subsidy will reduce to \$15.00 per month so that the participating businesses, if they choose to continue the service, will be asked to pay the balance, around \$11.00 per month; however, that fee may go up or down throughout the year in response to market fluctuations and material processing costs.

Services to Customers in Space Constrained areas – Space Saver and Seven Day Service Rates

Areas in Vancouver that include the historic downtown and newer mixed use zones aim to maximize space and create areas that are pleasant for both living, working and recreating. These designs may result in enclosures or garbage rooms in densely developed areas that lack sufficient space to store and service larger volume garbage containers. With less room, customers may require more frequent collection of a smaller-sized container(s). This design results in higher costs under the regular container rate schedule. New rates are established with the new contract to provide “space saver” rates for those locations where solid waste storage is identified as a significant challenge; thereby reducing the disincentive that some generators have reported under the existing linear rate structure. The rates are intended to encourage frequent removal of garbage and discourage storage of large containers in areas where aesthetics are important due to the mixed use design. The space saver rates offer an average of 14 percent savings over the regular

container rates but still require the businesses to pay a 10 percent premium (embedded in the rates being adopted) over what they would pay with a larger container and less frequent pickups, were the site conducive to using a larger container. Effective January 1, 2020, commercial container rates will increase by 0.5 percent to offset the cost of efficiently servicing the space constrained locations. It is anticipated that the space saver rates will apply to 10 percent of the customers. New rates for sites requiring seven days per week service are also created through the ordinance. Under the new contract, Waste Connections agrees to collect on Sundays where this is required to best meet customer needs.

Summary

Other changes within the code either refine definitions or provide needed clarifications to be consistent with terms of the proposed new Contract for Waste Connections of Washington. There are also a few other minor housekeeping changes unrelated to the contract. These are shown as edits to the existing code within the ordinance.

Staff recommends modifying customer rates as detailed in the ordinance. Unless noted within the sections (as for organics services) all adjustments will be effective April 1, 2019.

Advantage(s)

1. Adopting the recyclables processing surcharge assures that the City's contracted collector of residential recyclables is able to pay the new fees established at West Van on the effective date through Clark County action.
2. New or otherwise modified rates and fees or other code language support changes needed as a result of the new ten-year collection contract with Waste Connections of Washington.

Disadvantage(s)

Residential customers will pay higher recycling rates. For the typical single-family household with 32-gallon per week garbage and every-other-week recycling collection service, the combined monthly rate will increase by 8.8 percent, from \$22.23 to \$24.19, or \$1.96 per month. For those with optional yard debris service (\$7.43/month), the rate for combined services will increase by 6.6 percent, from \$29.66 to \$31.62, also \$1.96 per month.

Budget Impact

Modifying the rates along with approving the new Waste Connections contract will have savings to the Solid Waste budget of approximately \$740,000 per year allowing the Solid Waste Utility fund to be financially stable and sustainable moving forward. The City's Solid Waste fund is currently subsidizing a shortfall of approximately \$440,000 per year in contractor payments due to reduced recyclable materials revenues being received. Continuing that level of subsidy is not sustainable.

Prior Council Review

Changes related to the recyclables processing surcharge and the new collection contract were last discussed with Council on February 4, 2019.

Action Requested

On Monday, February 25, 2019, subject to second reading and public hearing, approve ordinance.

Tanya Gray, Solid Waste Supervisor, 487-7163

ATTACHMENTS:

- ▣ Ordinance
- ▣ Summary of Proposed Solid Waste Rates

02/11/19
02/25/19

ORDINANCE NO. M- 4264

AN ORDINANCE relating to the collection of solid waste, recyclable materials and organics, and Titles 5.94 and 6.12 of the Vancouver Municipal Code; amending Vancouver Municipal Code sections 5.94.020, 6.12.010, 6.12.020, 6.12.110, 6.12.115, 6.12.120, 6.12.130, 6.12.140, 6.12.161, 6.12.190, 6.12.201, 6.12.202, 6.12.203, 6.12.208, 6.12.209, 6.12.210, 6.12.211, 6.12.212, and 6.12.213; providing for severability; and establishing an effective date.

WHEREAS, solid waste collection, residential recycling, and yard debris rates were last changed by adoption of Ordinance M-4240 (October 1, 2018), and current rates became effective January 1, 2019, and

WHEREAS, the Clark County Council and County Manager, through amendment to the waste recycling, transfer and disposal contract with Columbia Resource Company managed by the County's Public Health Department, has approved a recyclables processing fee of \$68.91 per ton to be effective March 1, 2019, and

WHEREAS, the City's comprehensive waste collection contract provides that the City may adjust customer rates to accommodate changes in recyclables processing fees, and

ORDINANCE - 1

WHEREAS, the City has chosen to adjust rates by calculating and applying a surcharge to the recyclables collection service, and implement those surcharges beginning April 1, 2019 to coincide with other proposed solid waste collection rate changes, and

WHEREAS, the recyclables processing fee and the dependent surcharges have been reviewed and found to be reasonable on the basis of changes in global markets for secondary materials and increased costs for operating the West Van Material Recovery Facility to assure that the community's diverted materials find dependable homes, and

WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Garbage, Multifamily and Single Family Recyclables, and Yard Debris Collection Contract with Waste Connections of Washington, Inc., dated June 1, 2009, allowed for an extension of the contract if a curbside Food Waste/Organics collection program is implemented, and

WHEREAS, on February 25, 2019, City Council approved of an amended contract with Waste Connections of Washington, Inc., retitled Comprehensive Garbage, Recyclables, and Organics Collection Contract ("the Contract"), which provides for residential organics collection starting in October 2019, and

WHEREAS, the Contract provides for desired service modifications which requires the establishment of new rates and charges to be incorporated into VMC 5.94 (SOLID WASTE UTILITY TAX) and VMC 6.12 (GARBAGE DISPOSAL) and general housekeeping changes.

NOW, THEREFORE,

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF VANCOUVER:

Section 1. VMC 5.94.020, adopted by Ordinance M- 3896, is amended as follows:

5.94.020 Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

"Collector" or "collector of solid waste and/or recyclables" means a person, company or contractor with whom or which the city has entered into a contract by which such person or firm collects and removes solid waste and/or recyclables.

“Solid waste collection service” means receiving solid waste for transfer, processing, treatment, storage, or disposal, including, but not limited to all collection services under contract with the City.

“Solid waste” means garbage, trash, rubbish, or other material discarded as worthless or not economically viable for further use and related services. The term does not include hazardous or toxic waste nor does it include material collected primarily for recycling or salvage – including organics ~~yard waste~~ and related services.

“Person” or "company", herein used interchangeably, means any individual, receiver, administrator, executor, assignee, trustee in bankruptcy, trust, estate, firm, copartnership, joint venture, club, company, joint stock company, business trust, municipal corporation, political subdivision of the state of Washington, corporation, limited liability company, association, society, or any group of individuals acting as a unit, whether mutual, cooperative, fraternal, nonprofit, or otherwise and the United States or any instrumentality thereof.

“Taxpayer” means that person upon whom the solid waste utility tax is imposed.

Section 2. VMC 6.12.010, adopted by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.010 Definitions.

In this chapter, unless another meaning is plainly required:

ORDINANCE - 3

"Can" means a receptacle that is watertight, galvanized, sheet metal or plastic receptacle not exceeding thirty-two gallons in capacity, four cubic feet or twelve pounds when empty and sixty-five pounds when full, fitted with ~~at least one~~ two (2) sturdy looped handles, one on each side; and fitted with a tight cover equipped with a handle. ~~Except in the case of sunken cans, such eCans~~ shall be rodent and insect proof and shall be kept in a sanitary condition at all times. Any can exceeding the size or weight restrictions above ~~or designed to be permanently below ground (sunken can)~~ shall be subject to an additional charge as set forth in the schedule of charges section of this chapter. Alternate receptacles such as bags, boxes and bundles may be used in place of cans; provided, that a customer's primary receptacle shall always be a ~~minimum~~, can or cart.

"Cart" means a wheeled receptacle with attached lid ~~plastic receptacle~~ on wheels with handles and a tight-fitting cover, capable of being mechanically unloaded into collection vehicles operated by the contractor in accordance with the ~~collector's contracts~~ specifications and which is less than one cubic yard in capacity. Carts shall be rodent and insect resistant ~~weights shall not exceed sixty five pounds per thirty two gallons of nominal capacity.~~

"Collector" or "collector of solid waste and/or recyclables" means a person, company or contractor with whom or which the city has entered into a contract by which such person or firm collects and removes solid waste and/or recyclables as provided in this chapter, and in such contract.

"Container" means a detachable container which is to be left at a customer's premises and to be emptied into the collector's truck and which is lifted by mechanical means. All such containers shall be metal or of another material found by collector to be equally good for such purpose, easily cleanable and insect proof and rodent proof and approved by the city. If the containers are to be used for wet waste of any kind they shall be watertight and have metal or plastic lids.

"Customer" means every person, firm, partnership, association, institution and corporation utilizing solid waste collection or recyclables collection services in the city of Vancouver. The

term shall also mean the occupant and/or the owner of the premises for which service mentioned in this chapter is rendered.

"Drop box" means a container which is placed on a collector's truck by mechanical means, hauled to the disposal site and returned to customer's premises.

"Dwelling unit" means any building or portion thereof which contains living facilities, including provision for sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation, and including not more than one kitchen for not more than one family.

"Food scraps" means all compostable pre- and post-consumer food waste, such as whole or partial pieces of produce, meats, bones, cheese, bread, cereals, coffee grounds, and eggshells. Food Scraps shall not include dead animals, plastics, diapers, cat litter, liquid wastes, ashes, pet wastes, or other materials prohibited by the City's selected composting facility. This does not include compostable service ware, soiled paper or other materials prohibited by the organics processor (or composting facility). Food Scraps includes compostable plastic or paper bags used to contain materials, as approved by the organics processor.

"Garbage" means all putrescible and non-putrescible solid and semi-solid wastes, including, but not limited to, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, swill, demolition and construction wastes, dead small animals completely wrapped in plastic and weighing less than fifteen (15) pounds, and discarded commodities that are placed by Customers in appropriate Receptacles for collection and disposal by the Collector. The term "Garbage" shall not include Hazardous Wastes, Source-separated recyclable materials, or Source-separated Organics.

"Hazardous wastes" are those waste products which the city collector is unable to collect, transport or dispose of because of potential danger therefrom to personnel, equipment or landfill site or which rules of the health department, the Washington State Department of Ecology, the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, or the Environmental Protection Agency, prohibit it from collecting, transporting or disposing of through the designated disposal system.

ORDINANCE - 5

"Health officer" means the city or county health officer, as defined in RCW 70.04.020, RCW 70.04.030 and RCW 70.06.020, or his or her authorized representatives.

~~"Minican" means a watertight, galvanized, sheet metal or plastic receptacle not exceeding twenty gallons in capacity, fitted with one sturdy handle, and a tight cover equipped with a handle. Minican weights shall not exceed forty pounds for each twenty gallons of nominal capacity.~~

"Multifamily residence" means a multiple-unit residence with five or more dwelling units on a consolidated solid waste collection bill.

"Organics" means any organic waste material that is Source-separated for processing or composting, such as Yard Debris and Food Scraps generated by any Residential or Commercial customers.

"Person" means every person, firm, partnership, association, institution and corporation. The term shall also mean the occupant and/or the owner of the premises for which service mentioned in this chapter is rendered.

"Private drive" means a privately owned or maintained way serving fewer than four residences or serving less than one residence for every one hundred yards in length.

"Private road" means a privately owned and maintained way that allows for access by a service truck and which serves four or more residences.

"Public street" means any public way used by the public for travel, including alleys.

"Recyclable materials" means materials which have passed through their originally intended usage, have use or value as a commercial commodity, and are intentionally separated from solid waste by their original consumer for collection for the purpose of recycling, reuse, reprocessing

or remanufacture in accordance with the methods prescribed in this chapter and Chapter 5.62 VMC. Recyclable materials include but are not limited to paper, cardboard, metal, aluminum, glass, plastic, yard debris, used motor oil or other materials as may be designated now or hereafter by city administrative rule and/or the Clark County comprehensive solid waste management plan.

“Recyclables processing surcharge” means a monthly fee added to residential customer bills on an interim basis, and subject to annual increases or decreases, to assure that per ton charges assessed at the direction of Clark County at the Recycling facility for these materials is sufficient to offset increased operational costs for processing and market factors.

"Recycling" means transforming or remanufacturing materials into usable or marketable materials for use other than landfill disposal or incineration; except in the case of source-separated wood waste which has limited material use for use as fuel. Recycling includes composting of source-separated organics but not composting of mixed waste.

"Recycling facility" means a facility which separates, transforms or manufactures solid waste recyclable materials received from the public or other third-party generators, into usable or marketable material for reuse or resale rather than disposal by landfilling or incineration.

"Residence" or "residential" means any house, dwelling, multiunit residence, apartment house, trailer court or any building put to residential use.

"Residual waste" means a byproduct of the transformation or remanufacture of a recyclable material into a usable or marketable material.

"Single family residence" means all one-unit houses, as well as duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes or mobile homes with individual collection and billing located on a public street, private drive or private road. Single family residences located in an area that the city determines does not allow

safe access, turnaround, or clearance for collection vehicles or on a private drive will be deemed to be single family residences if materials are set out adjacent to a public street or private road.

"Solid waste" means and includes all forms of putrescible and nonputrescible wastes including but not limited to garbage, rubbish, refuse, household animal waste, dead animals under two hundred pounds, nonrigid containers (bags), rigid pesticide containers that have been properly decontaminated by jet or multiple rinsing, residential ashes, industrial wastes, swill, demolition waste, special waste and construction wastes, other materials and substances that are currently or may in the future be included in the definition of "solid waste" in ORS 459.005 or RCW 70.95.030 and which are accumulated in any public or private residence or commercial, business or industrial establishment; provided, for the purposes of Chapters 6.12 and 5.62 VMC, "solid waste" shall not include industrial byproducts, nor sewage, and shall not include hazardous wastes, or recyclable material which is source separated and set out for recycling purposes as such terms are defined in this chapter.

"Source separate" means the separation of recyclable or organic materials from solid waste, for the purpose of recycling or composting, at the place where the recyclable or compostable material and solid waste originates.

"Space-constrained locations" means commercial or multifamily sites located in the city core area or locations zoned Urban High Density and Commercial and Mixed Use, where the area of the enclosure, solid waste room or other spaces for storing garbage, recycling and organics collection containers or carts between collection days does not allow for once per week collection service. The Director of Public Works in consultation with the Collector shall make the final determination on whether particular commercial or multifamily customers qualify for reduced fees from the Regular Container rates of VMC 6.12.210 applied to the frequency and size of containers utilized.

"Special pickup" means collection of regular service, upon request of the customer, on a day or at a time other than the regularly scheduled day and time. Any amount collected upon such

request which is in excess of the regularly scheduled service shall be charged for at the extra can or extra yard rate, as applicable.

"Special waste" means solid waste to be collected by the city collector (even though it may be apart of a delivered load of solid waste) requiring special preparation by the customer prior to collection and special handling by either the collector or the county disposal system transfer station operator due to its large size or volume, dustiness, or other unique feature which is subject to special compensation as defined in Article ~~10~~12 of the "Contract Regarding Solid Waste Recycling, Transfer, Transport and Out-of County Disposal Between Clark County, Washington, and Columbia Resource Company, L.P.~~Tidewater Barge Lines, Inc.~~," dated January 1, 2006~~April 11, 1990~~. Special waste includes but is not limited to:

1. Dead animals over two hundred pounds;
2. Tires;
3. Batteries;
4. Used motor oil;
5. Noninfectious medical waste;
6. Discarded or abandoned vehicles or parts thereof;
7. Discarded home and industrial appliances;
8. Discarded furniture and mattresses;
9. Asbestos packaged and handled in accordance with applicable laws and permits;

ORDINANCE - 9

10. Wastes listed in the definition of solid waste that by virtue of its size, weight or shape may require special handling;
11. Municipal refuse ash and sewage sludge incinerator ash disposed in accordance with applicable laws and permits;
12. Residue or debris from the cleanup of a spill or release of chemical substances, commercial products or wastes that require special approval by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, but which are not themselves hazardous wastes;
13. Soil, water, residue, debris or articles that are contaminated from the cleanup of a site or facility formerly used for the generation, storage, treatment, recycling, reclamation, transport or disposal of wastes that require special approval by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, but which are not themselves hazardous waste;
14. Sewage sludge dewatered in accordance with applicable state and federal regulations;
15. Restaurant waste grease;
16. Residue and debris from wastewater treatment plant operations;
17. Livestock manure; or
18. Other wastes that because of change in any applicable Washington or Oregon law may no longer be treated as solid waste but may be handled under special requirements set forth in applicable statute, rule or permit. Special waste does not include hazardous waste or source-separated recyclables.

"Special waste handling and removal contractors" means commercial contractors who are certified and/or meet applicable laws and regulations to handle certain special wastes including medical waste, asbestos, residue or debris from a cleanup of a spill or release of chemical substances, street sweeping debris, catch basin cleanout waste and other special wastes as may be now or hereafter designated by city administrative rule or the Clark County comprehensive solid waste management plan, of which self-hauling these wastes is an incidental part of their business.

"Yard Debris" means leaves, grass, prunings, garden trimmings, branches and small trees. Materials larger than four (4) inches in diameter or four (4) feet in length are excluded. Bundles of Yard Debris up to two (2) feet in diameter by four (4) feet in length and no more than fifty-five (55) pounds, shall be allowed, and shall be secured by degradable string or twine, not nylon or other synthetic materials. Un-flocked, undecorated whole Christmas trees cut to less than six (6) feet in height are acceptable. Kraft paper bags or Cans labeled "Yard Debris" may also be used to contain extra Yard Debris.

Section 3. VMC 6.12.020, adopted by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.020 Purpose.

The purpose of this chapter is to prevent harm to the health and safety of the public, to promote the public health, safety and general welfare by providing for the regulation of solid waste collection and disposal, maintaining consistent and reliable solid waste, organics and recyclables collection services. This chapter is necessary to preserve a clean and orderly community in which to live, protect the quality of life and environment and provide for the wise use of resources.

Section 4. VMC 6.12.110, adopted by Ordinance C-33 and last amended by Ordinance M-3688, is amended as follows:

6.12.110 Mandatory collection--Containers required.

ORDINANCE - 11

a. The City of Vancouver has a system of universal compulsory garbage/solid waste collection and also a system by which recyclable materials shall be collected. Accordingly, every person in possession, charge or control of any house, dwelling, multiunit residence, apartment house, trailer court or any building put to residential use shall be charged for solid waste collection service and for collection of recyclable materials at the rates hereinafter specified, whether such person uses either such service or not; and in case any such person chooses not to actually use either such service he or she shall be charged for the service of checking to see whether he or she has solid waste or recyclable materials to be collected.

b. It is the duty of every person in possession, charge or in control of any house or dwelling, or of any roominghouse, multiunit residence, apartment house or trailer court to keep or cause to be kept an individual garbage can for each dwelling or unit therein; provided, in lieu of or in addition to garbage cans, apartment houses and trailer courts may use large containers, as hereinafter specified.

c. In addition, the city's contracted collector of recyclable materials shall provide all such persons who will agree to use them with appropriate and city-approved recycling bins or containers, to be picked up by the collector of recyclable materials per its agreement with the city.

d. The person in control of such dwelling or roominghouse, apartment house or trailer court shall deposit or cause to be deposited in the cans, carts, or containers all solid waste accumulating on the premises. When refuse is placed in any of the cans or carts the lid shall be properly replaced. Each can or cart shall be kept clean inside and out to reduce odors. Each can or cart, including recycling bins and yard debris receptacles, shall be left at

the curb for pickup not more than twelve hours before the scheduled pickup day and shall be removed from the curb in not more than twelve hours after the scheduled pickup day. Those customers with alley collection may leave their containers in the alley unless the collector or city requests the customer to store the container elsewhere due to space constraints, or health and safety concerns.

e. The person in charge of the premises likewise shall or shall arrange to place recyclable materials in the recycling bins, carts or containers provided by the city or collector therefore; provided, it shall be optional to such person as to whether to participate in such recycling program but each such person shall be charged for such service according to the schedule in Chapter 6.12 of this code whether he or she uses the services of the recycling program or not. All persons choosing to participate in the program, ~~including~~ except those ~~receiving~~ subscribed to carryout service for solid waste collection or ~~(with the exception of those receiving HELICO service)~~, shall place the recycling carts and bins within five feet of the curb or edge of the public street abutting the property, shall set them out not more than twelve hours before the scheduled pickup time, and shall remove them from the pickup location in not less than twelve hours after the scheduled pickup. The person or entity in control of any apartment house or other multifamily structure shall provide an area on the premises for the location of recycling carts or containers for use by all residents of such facilities. The carts and containers shall be located so that they may be picked up by the collector of recyclable materials per its agreement with the city.

f. Unless the resident has applied for and qualified for HELICO carryout service, or unless he or she has subscribed to ~~applied for~~ carryout service (as such terms are defined in

this chapter), he or she on each regular collection day shall place the garbage cart and any extra bags ~~can or cans~~, with any recycling bins or cart, within five feet of the curb or edge of the public street abutting the property. Whenever alleys exist, carts ~~cans~~ shall be placed so that service can be from five feet of the edge of such alley. When the customer has arranged to be on carryout service, he or she on each collection day shall place the carts, bins or cans in a consistent and reasonably accessible place which is not inside any building or carport, nor behind any fence or gate. Persons on HELICO carryout service shall place the carts ~~cans~~ at any reasonably accessible place.

g. It is the duty of every person in possession, charge or control of any shop, place of business or manufacturing establishment wherein solid waste is created or accumulated to keep or cause to be kept in a place accessible to the collector either a sufficient number of garbage cans such as are required for residential users, and subject to the same conditions, or may use larger containers or containers suitable for mechanical handling for such refuse. The collector shall furnish such a large container to any customer who orders one for service upon the rates specified in this chapter. All such containers shall be kept clean inside and out to reduce odors. A customer requesting a clean container to be supplied by collector shall pay for such service at the rate specified in the schedule of charges in Section 6.12.190.

h. At commercial locations the owner or tenant or their employees shall lawfully dispose of solid wastes by carrying them in the businesses' appropriate equipment to a disposal site or to other disposal facilities, but shall not contract with anyone other than the collector for that service, with the exception of special waste handling and removal contractors, for collection of such special wastes. If the special waste handling and removal

contractors do not own hauling equipment and require a subcontractor for hauling the special waste, they shall use the city's collector.

i. It is unlawful for anyone other than the owner or renter of the garbage cart, can, container or drop box or compactor to deposit any solid waste or other material therein except with the permission of such owner or renter.

j. Recyclable materials that are collected as such shall be reused, remanufactured into usable products and/or marketed for any use other than landfill disposal, incineration or fiber-based fuels. Source-separated wood waste which has limited use for recycling may be used for fuel; provided, it is separated from nonrecyclable materials before collection and transport.

Section 5. VMC 6.12.115, adopted by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.115 Discontinuance of service.

The collector shall use its best efforts to provide solid waste collection service to all customers in the applicable service areas. However, upon written approval from the ~~d~~Director of ~~p~~Public ~~w~~Works, the collector may deny or discontinue service to a customer if the ~~d~~Director or his or her designate determines pursuant to the procedures of this chapter or regulations promulgated pursuant to this chapter that a customer's acts or omissions warrant the denial or discontinuance of service. The collector shall discontinue service to a customer only when notified in writing to do so by the director and only after providing the customer affected with ten business days' written notice.

If a residential customer is unable to pay for all services received, the collector shall develop a mutually satisfactory payment plan and/or shift the customer to the least expensive service level, which may include eliminating organics collection services. For residential customer accounts that are sixty days past due, the collector is allowed to pursue all lawful remedies, including debt collection services, to collect funds due for services provided. The collector shall not initiate collection agency procedures on accounts prior to their becoming sixty days past due. The collector may, however, use other traditional collection notifications by telephone or in writing thirty days after the initial invoice. The collector is authorized to bill a residential or multifamily property owner or landlord or their authorized representative for any past due amounts owed by a tenant provided that the owner, landlord or representative has received prior notification.

~~The collector is authorized to bill the residential property owner/landlord for any past due amounts owed by the tenant. However, despite any delinquencies, the collector shall continue to provide a minimum level of solid waste collection service to all residential customers within the solid waste collection service area under this contract.~~

The collector may discontinue service to a customer without written approval from the Director only if the customer's account is sixty days past due (on a two-month billing cycle) and with at least ten business days prior written notice to the affected customer and property owner, if the property owner is not the customer. The collector shall restart a stopped customer's service upon customer request once the account is paid in full or satisfactory payment arrangements have been made between the collector and the customer. The collector shall also restart a stopped customer's service upon request from the Director

for health and safety reasons. The collector shall notify the City prior to suspending service to any multifamily customer.

~~With prior written notice, solid waste collection service may be discontinued to commercial customers with accounts due past sixty days. The collector shall not initiate collection agency procedures on accounts prior to their becoming sixty days past due, but may use other traditional collection notifications by telephone or in writing thirty days after the initial invoice. The collector is allowed to pursue any lawful remedies, including debt collection services, to collect funds due for services provided to commercial customers.~~

Section 6. VMC 6.12.120, adopted by Ordinance C-33 and last amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.120 Unlawful disposal--Burning.

A. It is unlawful for anyone to dump or dispose of solid waste, garbage, or recyclables upon any street, alley or other publicly owned property unless expressly authorized by the department of public works for special collection programs or upon any private property not owned by such person unless expressly authorized by the owner of the property and meeting the requirements of solid waste handling as specified in the Clark County solid waste management plan, Clark County Code Chapter 24.12 (Solid Waste Management), and WAC 173-350 (Solid Waste Handling Standards).

B. Solid waste produced on premises may not be burned or buried on such premises anywhere within the city limits. Under special circumstances, such as handling of debris from a disaster, so long as such burning may be allowable so long as and the time, place and

manner thereof comply with all regulations of the Southwest Washington Air Pollution Control Authority.

Section 7. VMC 6.12.130, adopted by Ordinance M-1019 and last amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.130 Frequency of collection.

A. Except as is otherwise provided for in other sections of this chapter, the collector of refuse shall collect solid waste from every residential user at least once per month, every other week or weekly and the collector of recyclable materials shall collect recyclable materials from every residential user at least ~~one~~ in every other week. If the collector(s) are unable to meet the minimum frequency of collection due to inclement weather and road conditions, an alternative collection schedule and/or disposal options for customers shall be developed for approval by the Public Works Director. If requested by a commercial customer solid waste may be collected up to ~~six~~ seven times per week Monday through ~~Sunday~~ Saturday. The collector shall collect solid waste and recyclable materials from all users as required to keep premises free of any nuisance or violation of any ordinance.

B. No solid waste or recyclables collecting shall be done in any residential zone before six-thirty a.m. or after six-thirty p.m. Collections in commercial and business zones shall be made between four a.m. and five p.m. except that collections may commence at three a.m. in heavy industrial areas. The commercial and business zones shall consist of the following areas: all areas zoned business or commercial by the city zoning ordinance. The collectors shall respond to any noise complaints from residents in areas adjacent to such districts and shall comply with reasonable city directives to resolve such noise complaints.

Section 8. VMC 6.12.140, adopted by Ordinance C-33 and amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.140 Authority to require separation of refuse.

The city of Vancouver reserves the right to and may have option to require the separation of recyclable materials, organics or other component parts of solid waste, and may require the deposit thereof in separate carts ~~cans~~ or receptacles and may prescribe the method of disposal thereof.

Section 9. VMC 6.12.161, adopted by Ordinance M-3000 and amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.161 Disposal of solid waste--Rules for handling.

A. *County Disposal System Designated.* The county transfer stations are designated as the initial disposal site for the following solid wastes and any collection companies or recycling facilities are directed to utilize said transfer stations for such solid wastes:

1. Solid waste, residual waste and residential recyclable material with the exception of organics~~yard debris~~, collected in the city by private handlers pursuant to a contract with the city;
2. Solid waste which is residual waste remaining from a recycling facility located within the city;
3. Residential recyclable material with the exception of organics ~~yard debris~~, collected pursuant to any city ordinance now or hereafter adopted.

B. *Rules.* Subject to city approval, the operator of a county transfer station may impose necessary and appropriate rules governing, and charge tipping fees for, the disposal

of solid waste. Collectors and recycling facilities subject to the designated county disposal system, and other persons using the transfer stations, shall comply with those rules and pay the applicable tipping fee.

Section 10. VMC 6.12.190, adopted by Ordinance C-33 and last amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.190 Schedule of charges authorized--Method of payment.

A. The schedule of charges for solid waste, ~~and recycling and organics collection~~ services shall be as set forth in Sections 6.12.206~~8~~ through 6.12.212~~3~~, and as such, sections may be amended by the city council. In the event the solid waste, ~~or~~ recyclables and organics collector fails to make any payment when due the city, such unpaid amount(s) shall bear interest at a rate of 1.5 percent per month from the date such amount was due until such amount is received by the city or designated residential recycling collector.

B. All charges for the services to be rendered shall be payable to the collector of solid waste as defined in this chapter and if not paid on or before thirty days from date of bill, such charge shall be delinquent. A delinquency charge to cover extra costs of collection shall be added to all accounts which have been delinquent for sixty days or over in an amount set forth in the schedule of charges. Service may be suspended for nonpayment of such accounts in accordance with Section 6.12.115 of this chapter. Such suspension shall not relieve the person owing such amount from the duty of complying with the provisions of this chapter. Suspension shall render the premises where such services are suspended subject to condemnation for sanitary reasons. Upon failure to pay such charges, and upon delinquency, the amount thereof shall become a lien against the property for which the garbage or

residential recyclables collection service is rendered, and such lien shall be made effective by filing a notice thereof specifying the charges, the period covered by the charges and giving a description of the premises for which the service was rendered. Such lien shall be filed with the same official and within the time and shall be foreclosed within the time and manner prescribed by law for filing and foreclosing liens for labor and materials. Such liens shall include attorney's fees and court costs as allowable by state law. Furthermore, such lien shall be prior to any and all other liens and encumbrances filed subsequent to the filing of such other lien but shall be subject to all general taxes and local improvement assessments, whether levied prior or subsequent thereto.

Section 11. VMC 6.12.201, adopted by Ordinance M-2665 and last amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.201 Permitted garbage amounts--Curbside, carryout or special service.

A. "Curb service" entitles the customer to have one or more ~~minicans, cans, or carts~~ picked up once per month, every other week or once per week within zero to five feet of the curb or street edge of his or her property, or within zero to five feet of an alley if one is available.

Any customer on curb service may leave at the curb, public street edge or alley an extra can or cans, bags or bundled materials (in addition to his/her regular service). Such extra can(s), bags or bundled materials, not exceeding sixty-five pounds for each item, shall then be picked up along with the first ~~carte~~an for an additional charge listed in the schedule of charges.

B. A residential customer who desires to have his or her solid waste carried out by the collector from a place on his or her property other than the curb or public street may arrange to have "carryout service." Any customer on carryout service may leave one or more garbage ~~cartseans~~ at any consistent and reasonably accessible place on his or her property, so long as it does not require the collector's employees to enter a building or go behind a gate.

Any customer on carryout service may contact the collector to have extra cans or boxes, bagged or bundled materials not exceeding sixty-five pounds each, carried out along with the regular ~~can~~ cart service. The customer shall pay an additional charge as listed in the schedule of charges.

~~C. Any residential customer whose can(s) are located below ground level (sunken) shall be subject to the additional monthly fee listed in the schedule of charges (residential).~~

~~Any customer, on any of the above services whose cans exceed weight limits prescribed in the above description of services shall be subject to an additional fee listed in the schedule of charges (residential).~~

CD. Any residential customer who is eligible under statutes and regulations to receive United States Department of Agriculture food stamps, and who is also disabled by reason of age or otherwise so that he or she is physically unable to carry the garbage can to the curb, may apply, on a form to be prepared by the collector and approved by the city, for HELICO service (handicapped or elderly low-income service). If the collector finds he or she is qualified, he or she shall be entitled to have one garbage ~~cartean~~ picked up each week, every other week or monthly from any consistent and reasonably accessible place on his or her property. The collectors, if necessary, shall go through a gate to render such service.

Additional cans may be picked up for additional charges listed in the schedule of charges (residential). In any household which is financially qualified for HELICO service, persons shall be deemed disabled by reason of age if all adult persons are over sixty-one years of age. Persons who qualify for HELICO service shall be required annually to certify to the collector that they continue to qualify for such service. The collector may require any person who applies for HELICO service or renewal thereof to provide appropriate documentation to support the claim that he/she is HELICO eligible.

DE. Any residential customer on any of the above types of service may call the collector for a "special pickup," and the collector shall respond as soon as possible and, in any event, not to exceed forty-eight hours from the date the collector receives notice from the customer of the request for special pickup at a fee as listed in the schedule of charges (residential ~~service~~ can).

EF. In case of any dispute as to where customers on curb service are to place such ~~carts~~ cans, decision of the city staff after consultation with the collector and customer shall be final.

Section 12. VMC 6.12.202, adopted by Ordinance M-2610 and last amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.202 Commercial garbage service-- Carts~~Cans~~.

A. All uses shall be deemed commercial for purposes of this chapter if a business is operating on the premises.

B. "Carryout service" for commercial customers will entitle the customer to have one or more ~~minicans, cans or~~ carts picked up and carried out by the collector one or more times each week, ~~monthly~~, every other week or ~~weekly~~ monthly from any consistent and accessible place, not to exceed one hundred feet in distance from any curb, public street edge or alley on his or her property listed in the schedule of charges (commercial can). If the ~~cartseans~~ are placed so that the collector has to go into a building, through a gate, remove from an enclosure or go up or down stairs, there shall be added thereto a monthly surcharge as set forth in the rate schedule (commercial servicecan).

C. Any commercial customer outside the downtown area bounded by "C" Street, Columbia, Fourth Plain and the river, who does not desire carryout service, can arrange for "curb service." On this service, the collector will pick up one or more ~~minicans, cans or~~ carts ~~monthly~~once weekly, every other week, or monthly within zero to five feet of the curb, public street edge or alley of his or her property.

~~D. Any commercial customer whose can(s) is located below ground level (sunken) shall be subject to an additional monthly fee listed in the schedule of charges (commercial can).~~

~~Any customer whose can(s) exceeds weight limits prescribed in the above description of services shall be subject to an additional fee listed in the schedule of charges (commercial can).~~

DE. Any commercial customer on either carryout service or curb service may place extra cans (in addition to their regular cart service), bags or bundled materials to be picked up for an additional charge listed on the schedule of charges (commercial servicecan).

EF. Any commercial customer on any of the above types of service may call the collector for a special pickup, and the collector shall respond as soon as possible and, in any event, not to exceed forty-eight hours from the time the collector is notified by the customer of the request for special pickup at a rate specified in the schedule of charges (commercial ~~service~~ service).

Section 13. VMC 6.12.203, adopted by Ordinance M-2665 and last amended by Ordinance M-3193, is amended as follows:

6.12.203 Commercial container service.

A. Under "commercial container service," a customer can buy, lease or contact the contractor to install a container that is compatible with the contractor's collection equipment, meeting the requirements of this chapter, placed at a central location on his or her premises. If a ~~carte~~ service is already in effect, such ~~carte~~ service shall automatically be discontinued upon placement of a commercial container.

Containers range in size from one cubic yard to eight cubic yards in capacity. Containers exceeding three cubic yards capacity will not be available in the area of the city bounded by "C" Street, Columbia, Fourth Plain and the Columbia River unless the city and collector determine that there is adequate access and space for a larger container. Customers can arrange, by contacting the collector, to have a container emptied up to six times per week. Customers who request that a container be placed on their premises shall be charged a one-time placement fee to cover contractor's costs in the placement of the container, as set forth below in the schedule of charges.

B. All containers shall be placed in a location accessible to the collector on collection day. If containers are placed so that the collector must go inside a building, go through a gate, or remove from an enclosure, there shall be added a surcharge as set ~~forth~~^{forth} in the schedule of charges.

C. If a container must be moved more than fifteen feet in order to reach a collector's collection vehicle, there shall be a roll-out charge as set forth in the schedule of charges.

D. Containers should not be overfilled. They shall not be loaded so heavily that the collector cannot easily move them. They shall be placed on hard and level surfaces. Lids should close properly when the container is full. Should the container be overfilled by the customer, there shall be an additional charge as set forth in the schedule of charges.

E. Customers who have secured containers so as to prevent public access shall remove all such security devices on pickup day. Should the customer want the collector to unlock the container, the customer must provide a key or combination to the collector. There shall be an additional charge as set forth in the schedule of charges to the customer for having the collector take this responsibility unless the container automatically unlocks upon collection. The collector shall not be held responsible to empty any locked container when no key or combination has been provided, and the collector shall not be held responsible for any lost lock or key.

F. Any container customer may call the collector for a special pickup, and the collector shall respond as soon as possible and in any event not to exceed forty-eight hours, at a rate specified in the schedule of charges.

Section 14. VMC 6.12.208, adopted by Ordinance M-2665 and last amended by M-4240, is amended as follows:

6.12.208 Residential/multifamily cart rates.

The following table lists rates charged for residential/multifamily cart service:

Curb Service:	2019
32-gallon cart service	
Weekly collection	19.22 per month
Each additional cart	19.22 per month
Every other week	14.42 per month
Each additional cart	14.42 per month
Once a month	8.65 per month
64-gallon cart service	
Weekly collection	38.44 per month
Each additional cart	38.44 per month

Every other week 19.22 per month

96-gallon cart service

Weekly collection 57.66 per month

Each additional cart 57.66 per month

20-gallon cart service

Weekly collection 14.42 per month

Every other week 11.53 per month

Carryout Service:

32-gallon cart service

Weekly collection 28.83 per month

Each additional cart 28.83 per month

Every other week	21.63 per month
Each additional cart	21.63 per month
Once a month	12.98 per month

64-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	48.05 per month
Every other week	40.85 per month

96-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	67.27 per month
-------------------	-----------------

20-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	21.63 per month
Every other week	17.30 per month

Special/Optional Services:

Extra 32-gallon or equivalent (or portion thereof)

Curb	7.56 per pick up
Carryout	11.34 per pick up
Return trip fee	11.15 per trip
Overweight/overfilled cart	Billed as an extra
Cart replacement fee	At cost
Cart delivery, initial	0.00
Cart delivery, subsequent	13.86

Late Fee:

1.5 percent of balance outstanding at thirty days past due date.

~~Service Stop for~~ Vacation

Allowance:

Minimum period of two weeks.

Maximum of three vacations per year.

Section 15. VMC 6.12.209, adopted by Ordinance M-2665 and last amended by Ordinance M-4240, is amended as follows:

6.12.209 Commercial cart rates.

The following table lists garbage rates charged for commercial cart service:

Curb Service:	2019
32-gallon cart service	
Weekly collection	21.37 per month
Each additional cart	21.37 per month
Every other week	16.03 per month
Each additional cart	16.03 per month
Once a month	9.62 per month

64-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	42.74 per month
Each additional cart	42.74 per month
Every other week	21.37 per month

96-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	64.11 per month
-------------------	-----------------

20-gallon cart service

Weekly cart service	16.03 per month
Every other week	12.82 per month

Carryout Service:

32-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	32.06 per month
Each additional cart	32.06 per month
Every other week	24.05 per month
Each additional cart	24.05 per month
Once a month	14.43 per month

64-gallon cart service

Weekly collection	53.43 per month
Every other week	32.06 per month

96-gallon car service

Weekly collection	74.80 per month
-------------------	-----------------

20-gallon cart service

Weekly collection 24.05 per month

Every other week 19.23 per month

Special/Optional Services:

Extra 32-gallon or equivalent (or portion thereof)

Curb 8.38 per pick up

Carryout 12.63 per pick up

Return trip fee 11.15 per trip

Overweight/overfilled cart Billed as an extra

Cart replacement fee At cost

Cart delivery, initial 0.00

Cart delivery, subsequent 13.95

Subscription-based commercial organics ~~yard debris~~ collection service is

available at rates listed in VMC Section 6.12.213.

Late Fee:

~~Late Fee:~~ 1.5 percent of balance outstanding at thirty days past due date.

Vacation Allowance:

Minimum period of two weeks.

Maximum of three vacations per year.

Section 16. VMC 6.12.210, adopted by Ordinance C-33 and last amended by Ordinance M-4240, is amended as follows:

6.12.210 Container rates.*

The following Table 6.12.210 lists garbage rates charged for container service:

Table 6.12.210. (2019 Rates)

Regular Containers

Weekly Frequency

Size (In Yards)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	\$ 131.24	\$ 262.48	\$393.72	\$ 524.96	\$ 656.20	\$ 787.44	<u>\$ 918.68</u>

Size (In Yards)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1.5	\$ 164.05	\$ 328.10	\$ 492.15	\$ 656.20	\$ 820.25	\$ 984.30	\$ 1,148.35
2	\$ 196.86	\$ 393.72	\$ 590.58	\$ 787.44	\$ 984.30	\$ 1,181.16	\$ 1,378.02
3	\$ 262.48	\$ 524.96	\$ 787.44	\$ 1,049.92	\$ 1,312.40	\$ 1,574.88	\$ 1,837.36
4	\$ 328.10	\$ 656.20	\$ 984.30	\$ 1,312.40	\$ 1,640.50	\$ 1,968.60	\$ 2,296.70
5	\$ 393.72	\$ 787.44	\$ 1,181.16	\$ 1,574.88	\$ 1,968.60	\$ 2,362.32	\$ 2,756.04
6	\$ 459.35	\$ 918.68	\$ 1,378.02	\$ 1,837.36	\$ 2,296.70	\$ 2,756.04	\$ 3,215.38
8	\$ 590.58	\$ 1,181.16	\$ 1,771.74	\$ 2,362.32	\$ 2,952.90	\$ 3,543.48	\$ 4,134.06

Regular Containers at Space Constrained Locations (Space Saver Rate)

Weekly Frequency

<u>Size</u> (In Yards)	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>7</u>
<u>1</u>		\$ 216.55	\$288.73	\$ 360.91	\$ 433.09	\$ 505.27	\$ 649.64
<u>1.5</u>		\$ 288.73	\$ 469.18	\$ 505.27	\$ 685.73	\$ 794.00	\$ 974.46
<u>2</u>		\$ 360.91	\$ 505.27	\$ 649.64	\$ 866.18	\$ 1,010.55	\$ 1,154.91
<u>3</u>		\$ 505.27		\$ 1,010.55	\$ 1,299.28	\$ 1,515.82	\$ 1,732.37
<u>4</u>		\$ 649.64		\$ 1,299.28		\$ 1,948.91	
<u>5</u>							
<u>6</u>							

<u>Size</u> (In Yards)	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>7</u>
<u>8</u>							

Compactor Containers

Weekly Frequency

Size (In Yards)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	\$ 294.57	\$ 589.14	\$ 883.71	\$ 1,178.28	\$ 1,472.85	\$ 1,767.42	<u>\$ 2,061.99</u>
1.5	\$ 368.21	\$ 736.43	\$ 1,104.64	\$ 1,472.85	\$ 1,841.06	\$ 2,209.28	<u>\$ 2,577.49</u>
2	\$ 441.86	\$ 883.71	\$ 1,325.57	\$ 1,767.42	\$ 2,209.28	\$ 2,651.13	<u>\$ 3,092.99</u>
3	\$ 589.14	\$ 1,178.28	\$ 1,767.42	\$ 2,356.56	\$ 2,945.70	\$ 3,534.84	<u>\$ 4,123.98</u>
4	\$ 736.43	\$ 1,472.85	\$ 2,209.28	\$ 2,945.70	\$ 3,682.13	\$ 4,418.55	<u>\$ 5,154.98</u>
5	\$ 883.71	\$ 1,767.42	\$ 2,651.13	\$ 3,534.84	\$ 4,418.55	\$ 5,302.26	<u>\$ 6,185.97</u>
6	\$ 1,031.00	\$ 2,061.99	\$ 3,092.99	\$ 4,123.98	\$ 5,154.98	\$ 6,185.97	<u>\$ 7,216.97</u>
8	\$ 1,325.57	\$ 2,651.13	\$ 3,976.70	\$ 5,302.26	\$ 6,627.83	\$ 7,953.39	<u>\$ 9,278.96</u>

Note: Above rates are for containers supplied by contractor. Rates for compacted solid waste apply only when such waste has been compacted by any mechanical device prior to its pickup by the collector. Loose waste dumped into the collector’s packer truck from a container will be subject to the rates for non-compacted material. However, waste that has been compressed or compacted by any mechanical device and then subsequently dumped into a loose yard container to be picked up by the Contractor shall be subject to compacted container rates only upon prior written approval of the Director.

Special Services:

Special pickups shall be charged the extra yard rate multiplied by the size of the container plus the return trip charge.

	2019
One-time delivery/pickup/disposal of 3-yard "Rent-a-Bin"	167.18
Additional "Rent-a-Bin" pickup	103.60
Return trip (blocked container, etc.)	16.33
Lock charge (if manual system used)	2.61 per collection
Subsequent deliveries/moves/replacements	29.73 per trip
Accessibility charge	3.71 per collection
Rollout charge	
Greater than 15 feet	3.71 per collection
Greater than 20 feet	5.95 per collection
Steam cleaning (customer request or requirement)	44.58 per container
Overfill/extra yardage (or portion thereof)	16.69 per event

Overweight charges for container service: If the Contractor identifies that a Customer's disposal weights are consistently in excess of 130 lbs. per loose yard (if charged loose container rates) or 455 lbs. per compacted yard, or per yard of heavy material such as dirt, rock, etc. (if charged compacted container rates) the Contractor may charge a flat overweight

surcharge in addition to the regular rates. The surcharge will be equal to the weight in excess of 200 pounds per loose yard or 700 pounds per compacted yard multiplied by the current disposal rates per pound, multiplied by the number of yards serviced per month. The surcharge may also be applied to any extra or special pickups. The Contractor shall not charge the overweight container charge until the on-going overweight account has been brought to the attention of the Director. The Contractor may charge the overweight charge once the Director has investigated the issue and made a written determination as to whether or not the proposed charge is appropriate to the situation.

Late Fee:

~~Late fee:~~ 1.5 percent of balance outstanding at thirty days past due date.

~~Service Stops for~~ Vacation Allowance:

Minimum period of two weeks.

Maximum of three vacations per year.

Section 17. VMC 6.12.211, adopted by Ordinance M-2665 and last amended by Ordinance M-4240, is amended as follows:

6.12.211 Drop box and compactor rates.*

The following table lists garbage rates charged for drop box and compactor service:

Regular Service:	2019
Initial placement fee	37.12 per trip
Moving fee	37.12 per trip
Steam clean	
(per customer request or as required)	4.00 per yard
Minimum	38.86 min

Plus: pickup and redelivery 37.12 per trip

Trucking Fee (empty and return - roundtrip haul charge):

Drop box

10-yard	145.61
20-yard	145.61
30-yard	145.61
40-yard	145.61

Compactor

10-yard	161.79
20-yard	161.79
30-yard	161.79
40-yard	161.79

Organics Trucking Fee (empty and return - roundtrip haul charge):

Drop box

<u>10-yard</u>	<u>105.86</u>
<u>20-yard</u>	<u>105.86</u>

ORDINANCE - 40

30-yard 105.86

40-yard 105.86

Compactor

10-yard 117.62

20-yard 117.62

30-yard 117.62

40-yard 117.62

Add disposal pass through at amount of tipping fee and disposal transaction fees or taxes to above charges.

Daily demurrage - Per Day 3.47 per day

Monthly demurrage - Monthly Maximum 104.54 monthly max

Special/modified box rental

(Lid/screen/winch, etc.) - Per day 4.98 per day

Monthly Maximum 149.98 monthly max

Waiting time

(after first 10 minutes) - Charge Per Minute 1.76 per minute

Mileage Charge (over 10) 3.22 per mile

Locking system

Materials plus labor @ per hour 37.12 per hour

ORDINANCE - 41

"Check only" service	
(price per container and per check)	11.13
Return trip charge (per container)	29.73

For Organics and/or Yard debris collection drop box service – the noted Organics Trucking Fee applies in place of the regular Trucking Fee, however, the same rates apply to these streams as for all other as regular drop box related services, except that and disposal will be charged at current organics and/or yard debris processing rates.

Late Fee:

~~Late fee:~~ 1.5 percent of balance outstanding at thirty days past due date.

Section 18. VMC 6.12.212, adopted by Ordinance M-2665 and last amended by Ordinance M-4240, is amended as follows:

6.12.212 Other rates.

The following table lists garbage rates for types of pickup other than those set out in Sections 6.12.208 through 6.12.211:

Bulky item pickup:	2019	
Stove	16.67	each
Washing machine	18.24	each
Dryer	15.10	each

Bulky item pickup:	2019	
Water heater	18.54	each
Refrigerator, freezer	30.15	each
Sofa	15.10	each
Chair	12.05	each
Mattress or box spring	13.64	each
Tires		
Auto/light pickup	7.18	each
with rim	11.11	each
Bus/heavy truck	22.52	each
with rim	37.15	each
Other bulky items	15.88	each

Note: the above rates are for pre-scheduled curbside pick-up at residential locations, however, they also may be applied to commercial and multifamily site pickups. For commercial and multifamily collections additional fees, detailed in VMC 6.12.210, may apply for requested Special Services that differ from the standard pre-scheduled curbside bulky item pickup.

Hourly equipment rental:

Sideloaded compactor truck	101.01	per hour
Rolloff truck/Front Load Compactor Truck	104.03	per hour

Bulky item pickup:	2019	
Extra labor	46.06	per hour
Overtime rate	Extra labor rate x 1.5	

Section 19. VMC 6.12.213, adopted by Ordinance M-3069 and last amended by Ordinance M-4240, is amended as follows:

6.12.213 Residential recycling fees.

The following fees shall be charged for recycling program costs within the City of Vancouver:

Curbside Recycling

a. For each dwelling unit in a structure containing from one to four residential dwelling units, ~~\$3.01~~ 3.20 per month.

b. For each dwelling unit in a structure containing from one to four residential dwelling units, the contractor may invoice a “recyclables processing surcharge” of \$1.77 per month.

Multi-family Recycling

~~b.c.~~ c. Five or more residential dwelling units on a consolidated solid waste collection bill, \$1.29 per month per unit.

d. For each dwelling unit in a structure containing five or more residential dwelling units, the contractor may invoice a “recyclables processing surcharge” of \$0.78 per unit per month.

The following optional fees shall be charged to those residents or businesses who voluntarily subscribe for service:

Yard Debris Organics Collection Service (Effective October 1, 2019)

<u>Residential Subscription Options:</u>	2019
<u>Basic subscription, with 96-gallon cart</u>	\$7.43 per month
Basic subscription, with 64-gallon cart	<u>6.43 per month</u>
<u>Basic subscription, with 32-gallon cart</u>	<u>5.43 per month</u>
<u>Basic subscription, with 20-gallon cart</u>	<u>4.43 per month</u>

<u>Commercial/multifamily Subscription Options:</u>	
<u>Every Other Week subscription, with 64-gallon cart</u>	<u>\$8.26 per month</u>
<u>Weekly subscription, with 64-gallon cart</u>	<u>16.52 per month</u>

<u>Special /Optional Organics Services:</u>	
1st additional 32-gallon equivalent	
(or portion thereof)	0.00 per month
Additional 32-gallon equivalent	
(or portion thereof, per item <u>volume</u>)	3.39 per pickup
Service restart fee,	10.39
within one year of last service	

Subscription service, on-call with no cart (not available effective October 1, 2019) 5.67 per pickup

Optional ~~64-gallon~~ extra cart rental 1.72 per month
~~— for on-call customers~~

Cart replacement fee At cost

Cart delivery fee, initial 0.00

Cart delivery fee, subsequent (including cart swap request) 13.86

~~32-gallon Wheeled cart rental (if requested)~~ ~~1.63 per month~~

Late fee: 1.5 percent of balance outstanding at 30 days

Vacation allowances in conjunction with garbage service vacations only.

Note: For commercial and multifamily sites participating in Organics collection service, the above subscription rates and Special/Optional Services fees apply so long as the customer is responsible for placing the cart(s) curbside for the scheduled collection day(s). If the cart(s) at these sites is not placed at the curb on collection day(s) and/or if other special services are requested for these sites, then the Special Services fees detailed in VMC 6.12.210 may be added as additional charges for each collection. Depending on location specific challenges, organics collection service may not be offered at all multifamily or commercial sites.

ORDINANCE - 46

Section 20. Savings. Those ordinances or parts of ordinances which are amended by this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect until the effective date of this ordinance.

Section 21. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such order or judgment shall be confined in its operation to the controversy in which it was rendered and shall not effect or invalidate the remainder of any parts thereof to any person or circumstances and to this end the provisions of each clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of this law are hereby declared to be severable.

Section 22. Effective date. This ordinance shall become effective as of April 1, 2019, following the date of final adoption.

Read first time: February 11, 2019

Ayes: Councilmembers Paulsen, Lebowsky, Glover, Stober, Hansen, Mayor McEnerny-Ogle

Nays: Councilmembers None

Absent: Councilmembers Turlay

Read second time: February 25, 2019

PASSED by the following vote: 6-0

Ayes: Councilmembers Paulsen, Lebowsky, Stober, Turlay, Hansen, Mayor McEnerny-Ogle

Nays: Councilmembers None

Absent: Councilmembers Glover

SIGNED this 25th day of February, 2019.

DocuSigned by:
Anne McEnery-Ogle
58CB15C6632F403...
Anne McEnery-Ogle, Mayor

Attest:

DocuSigned by:
Carrie Lewellen
661359AB277E439...
Natasha Ramras, City Clerk
By: Carrie Lewellen, Deputy City Clerk

Approved as to form:

DocuSigned by:
E. Bronson Potter
AAC4768B6D2D446...
E. Bronson Potter, City Attorney

ORDINANCE - 48

SUMMARY

ORDINANCE NO. M-4264

AN ORDINANCE relating to the collection of solid waste, recyclable materials and organics, and Titles 5.94 and 6.12 of the Vancouver Municipal Code; amending Vancouver Municipal Code sections 5.94.020, 6.12.010, 6.12.020, 6.12.110, 6.12.115, 6.12.120, 6.12.130, 6.12.140, 6.12.161, 6.12.190, 6.12.201, 6.12.202, 6.12.203, 6.12.208, 6.12.209, 6.12.210, 6.12.211, 6.12.212, and 6.12.213; providing for severability; and establishing an effective date.

The full text of this ordinance will be mailed upon request. Contact Raelyn McJilton, Records Officer at 487-8711, or via www.cityofvancouver.us (Go to City Government and Public Records).

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED SOLID WASTE COLLECTION RATES for 4/1/19 as compared to rates in effect since 1/1/19 (3 pages)

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Apr-19	Change
Residential/Multifamily Curb Service (VMC 6.12.208)			
32-gallon cart service			
A weekly collection	\$19.22	\$19.22	0.0%
each additional	\$19.22	\$19.22	0.0%
every other week collection	\$14.42	\$14.42	0.0%
each additional can	\$14.42	\$14.42	0.0%
once per month collection	\$8.65	\$8.65	0.0%
64-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$38.44	\$38.44	0.0%
each additional	\$38.44	\$38.44	0.0%
every other week collection	\$19.22	\$19.22	0.0%
96-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$57.66	\$57.66	0.0%
20-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$14.42	\$14.42	0.0%
every other week collection	\$11.53	\$11.53	0.0%
Residential Carryout Service			
32-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$28.83	\$28.83	0.0%
each additional cart	\$28.83	\$28.83	0.0%
every other week collection	\$21.63	\$21.63	0.0%
each additional cart	\$21.63	\$21.63	0.0%
once per month collection	\$12.98	\$12.98	0.0%
64-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$48.05	\$48.05	0.0%
every other week collection	\$40.85	\$40.85	0.0%
96-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$67.27	\$67.27	0.0%
20-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$21.63	\$21.63	0.0%
every other week collection	\$17.30	\$17.30	0.0%
Residential Special/Optional Services			
Extra Cart (32-gallon equivalent)			
Curb (per pick-up)	\$7.56	\$7.56	0.0%
Carryout (per pick-up)	\$11.34	\$11.34	0.0%
Return Trip fee	\$11.15	\$11.15	0.0%
Overweight/overfilled can			
Cart replacement fee			
Cart Delivery, Initial	\$0.00	\$0.00	
Cart Delivery, Subsequent	\$13.86	\$13.86	0.0%
Residential Recycling & Yard Debris Collection (VMC 6.12.213)			
B Single Family EOW Curbside	\$3.01	\$3.20	6.3%
B' Recyl Procesng Surcharge	NEW \$1.77		
Multi-Family (per unit/month)	\$1.29	\$1.29	0.0%
Recyl Procesng Surcharge	NEW \$0.78		
C Yard Debris Collection Service (every other week by subscription)			
Basic subscription 64-gal.	\$7.43	\$7.43	0.0%
1st additional 32-gal can	\$0.00	\$0.00	
Additional 32-gal per pickup	\$3.39	\$3.39	0.0%
Service restart fee (<1yr)	\$10.39	\$10.39	0.0%
On-call/No Cart (per pickup)	\$5.67	\$5.67	0.0%
Optional 64-gal Cart Rental	\$1.72	\$1.72	0.0%
Cart replacement fee			
Cart delivery fee, initial	\$0.00	\$0.00	
Cart delivery, subsequent	\$13.86	\$13.86	0.0%
32-gallon Wheeled-cart rent	\$1.69	\$1.69	delete

Assumes 3/1/19 effective date

Page 3 Provides NEW Organics Fees

Standard Service Level for Residential Customers (A + B)				Added:	
A	32-Gallon Weekly Garbage	\$19.22	\$19.22	0.0%	\$0.00
B	Single Family Curbside B + B'	\$3.01	\$4.97	65.0%	\$1.96
C	Yard Debris Collection (Subscribe)	\$7.43	\$7.43	0.0%	\$0.00
TOTAL A + B (+B')		\$22.23	\$24.19	8.8%	\$1.96
TOTAL A + B + C (w/ YD)		\$29.66	\$31.62	6.6%	\$1.96

\$X.XX Shaded values indicate PROPOSED changes based on NEW contract and Clark Co. Processing Fee. These changes will be reviewed by Vancouver City Council:

First Reading: 2/11/19

Second Reading/Public Hearing: 2/25/19

The majority of new fees are expected to remain unchanged through 2019, unless noted (until January 2020).

Questions on the rate changes may be addressed to Tanya Gray (487-7163)

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Apr-19	Change
Commercial Curb Service (VMC 6.12.209)			
32-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$21.37	\$21.37	0.0%
each additional cart	\$21.37	\$21.37	0.0%
every other week collection	\$16.03	\$16.03	0.0%
each additional can	\$16.03	\$16.03	0.0%
once per month collection	\$9.62	\$9.62	0.0%
64-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$42.74	\$42.74	0.0%
every other week collection	\$21.37	\$21.37	0.0%
96-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$64.11	\$64.11	0.0%
20-gallon cart collection			
weekly collection	\$16.03	\$16.03	0.0%
every other week collection	\$12.82	\$12.82	0.0%
Commercial Carryout Service			
32-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$32.06	\$32.06	0.0%
each additional can	\$32.06	\$32.06	0.0%
every other week collection	\$24.05	\$24.05	0.0%
each additional can	\$24.05	\$24.05	0.0%
once per month collection	\$14.43	\$14.43	0.0%
64-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$53.43	\$53.43	0.0%
every other week collection	\$32.06	\$32.06	0.0%
96-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$74.80	\$74.80	0.0%
20-gallon cart service			
weekly collection	\$24.05	\$24.05	0.0%
every other week collection	\$19.23	\$19.23	0.0%
Commercial Special/Optional Services			
Extra Cart (32-gallon equivalent)			
Curb (per pick-up)	\$8.38	\$8.38	0.0%
Carryout (per pick-up)	\$12.63	\$12.63	0.0%
Return Trip fee	\$11.15	\$11.15	0.0%
Overweight/overfilled cart			
Cart replacement fee			
Cart Delivery, Initial	\$0.00	\$0.00	
Cart Delivery, Subsequent	\$13.95	\$13.95	0.0%
Container (Commercial) Special Services (VMC 6.12.210)			
Special Pickup - yard rate X yards + return trip charge			
One Time Delivery/Pickup/Disposal			
of 3-yard "Rent-A-Bin"	\$167.18	\$167.18	0.0%
Additional "Rent-A-Bin"	\$103.60	\$103.60	0.0%
Return Trip fee	\$16.33	\$16.33	0.0%
Lock Charge (automatic system)	\$0.00	\$0.00	
Lock Charge (manual system)	\$2.61	\$2.61	0.0%
Subsequent Deliveries/Moves			
Replacements (per trip)	\$29.73	\$29.73	0.0%
Accessibility Charge	\$3.71	\$3.71	0.0%
Rollout Charge (per collection)			
Greater than 15 feet	\$3.71	\$3.71	0.0%
Greater than 20 feet	\$5.95	\$5.95	0.0%
Steam Cleaning (requested)	\$44.58	\$44.58	0.0%
Overfilled/Extra Yardage (portion)	\$16.69	\$16.69	0.0%
Other Garbage Rates (Bulky Items and Hourly - VMC 6.12.212)			
Stove	\$16.67	\$16.67	0.0%
Washing Machine	\$18.24	\$18.24	0.0%
Dryer	\$15.10	\$15.10	0.0%
Water Heater	\$18.54	\$18.54	0.0%
Refrigerator, Freezer	\$30.15	\$30.15	0.0%
Sofa	\$15.10	\$15.10	0.0%
Chair	\$12.05	\$12.05	0.0%
Mattress or Box Springs	\$13.64	\$13.64	0.0%
Tires			
auto light pickup	\$7.18	\$7.18	0.0%
with rim	\$11.11	\$11.11	0.0%
bus/heavy truck	\$22.52	\$22.52	0.0%
with rim	\$37.15	\$37.15	0.0%
Other Bulky Items	\$15.88	\$15.88	0.0%
Hourly Equipment Rental			
Sideloaded compactor	\$101.01	\$101.01	0.0%
Rolloff truck	\$104.03	\$104.03	0.0%
Extra labor	\$46.06	\$46.06	0.0%
Overtime rate		Extra labor rate X 1.5	

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Apr-19	Change
Commercial Container Service (Non Compacted - VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$131.24	\$131.24	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$262.48	\$262.48	0.0%
three collections/week	\$393.72	\$393.72	0.0%
four collections/week	\$524.96	\$524.96	0.0%
five collections/week	\$656.20	\$656.20	0.0%
six collections/week	\$787.44	\$787.44	0.0%
1.5 Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$164.05	\$164.05	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$328.10	\$328.10	0.0%
three collections/week	\$492.15	\$492.15	0.0%
four collections/week	\$656.20	\$656.20	0.0%
five collections/week	\$820.25	\$820.25	0.0%
six collections/week	\$984.30	\$984.30	0.0%
Two Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$196.86	\$196.86	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$393.72	\$393.72	0.0%
three collections/week	\$590.58	\$590.58	0.0%
four collections/week	\$787.44	\$787.44	0.0%
five collections/week	\$984.30	\$984.30	0.0%
six collections/week	\$1,181.16	\$1,181.16	0.0%
Three Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$262.48	\$262.48	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$524.96	\$524.96	0.0%
three collections/week	\$787.44	\$787.44	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,049.92	\$1,049.92	0.0%
five collections/week	\$1,312.40	\$1,312.40	0.0%
six collections/week	\$1,574.88	\$1,574.88	0.0%
Four Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$328.10	\$328.10	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$656.20	\$656.20	0.0%
three collections/week	\$984.30	\$984.30	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,312.40	\$1,312.40	0.0%
five collections/week	\$1,640.50	\$1,640.50	0.0%
six collections/week	\$1,968.60	\$1,968.60	0.0%
Five Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$393.72	\$393.72	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$787.44	\$787.44	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,181.16	\$1,181.16	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,574.88	\$1,574.88	0.0%
five collections/week	\$1,968.60	\$1,968.60	0.0%
six collections/week	\$2,362.32	\$2,362.32	0.0%
Six Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$459.34	\$459.34	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$918.68	\$918.68	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,378.02	\$1,378.02	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,837.36	\$1,837.36	0.0%
five collections/week	\$2,296.70	\$2,296.70	0.0%
six collections/week	\$2,756.04	\$2,756.04	0.0%
Eight Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$590.58	\$590.58	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$1,181.16	\$1,181.16	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,771.74	\$1,771.74	0.0%
four collections/week	\$2,362.32	\$2,362.32	0.0%
five collections/week	\$2,952.90	\$2,952.90	0.0%
six collections/week	\$3,543.48	\$3,543.48	0.0%

Page 3 Provides NEW Space Saver Rates & Seven Collections / per week Rates

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Apr-19	Change
Commercial Compactor Container Service (VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$294.57	\$294.57	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$589.14	\$589.14	0.0%
three collections/week	\$883.71	\$883.71	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,178.28	\$1,178.28	0.0%
five collections/week	\$1,472.85	\$1,472.85	0.0%
six collections/week	\$1,767.42	\$1,767.42	0.0%
1.5 Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$368.21	\$368.21	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$736.43	\$736.43	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,104.64	\$1,104.64	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,472.85	\$1,472.85	0.0%
five collections/week	\$1,841.06	\$1,841.06	0.0%
six collections/week	\$2,209.28	\$2,209.28	0.0%
Two Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$441.86	\$441.86	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$883.71	\$883.71	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,325.57	\$1,325.57	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,767.42	\$1,767.42	0.0%
five collections/week	\$2,209.28	\$2,209.28	0.0%
six collections/week	\$2,651.13	\$2,651.13	0.0%
Three Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$589.14	\$589.14	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$1,178.28	\$1,178.28	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,767.42	\$1,767.42	0.0%
four collections/week	\$2,356.56	\$2,356.56	0.0%
five collections/week	\$2,945.70	\$2,945.70	0.0%
six collections/week	\$3,534.84	\$3,534.84	0.0%
Four Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$736.43	\$736.43	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$1,472.85	\$1,472.85	0.0%
three collections/week	\$2,209.28	\$2,209.28	0.0%
four collections/week	\$2,945.70	\$2,945.70	0.0%
five collections/week	\$3,682.13	\$3,682.13	0.0%
six collections/week	\$4,418.55	\$4,418.55	0.0%
Five Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$883.71	\$883.71	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$1,767.42	\$1,767.42	0.0%
three collections/week	\$2,651.13	\$2,651.13	0.0%
four collections/week	\$3,534.84	\$3,534.84	0.0%
five collections/week	\$4,418.55	\$4,418.55	0.0%
six collections/week	\$5,302.26	\$5,302.26	0.0%
Six Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$1,031.00	\$1,031.00	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$2,061.99	\$2,061.99	0.0%
three collections/week	\$3,092.99	\$3,092.99	0.0%
four collections/week	\$4,123.98	\$4,123.98	0.0%
five collections/week	\$5,154.98	\$5,154.98	0.0%
six collections/week	\$6,185.97	\$6,185.97	0.0%
Eight Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$1,325.57	\$1,325.57	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$2,651.13	\$2,651.13	0.0%
three collections/week	\$3,976.70	\$3,976.70	0.0%
four collections/week	\$5,302.26	\$5,302.26	0.0%
five collections/week	\$6,627.83	\$6,627.83	0.0%
six collections/week	\$7,953.39	\$7,953.39	0.0%

Drop Box and Compactor Services (VMC 6.12.211)

Regular Service (pass through amount of tipping fee <u>and</u> transaction fee taxes)			
Initial Placement (per trip)	\$37.12	\$37.12	0.0%
Moving Fee (per trip)	\$37.12	\$37.12	0.0%
Steam Clean (per yard)	\$4.00	\$4.00	0.0%
Minimum (Plus P/R)	\$38.86	\$38.86	0.0%
Box placement/move onsite	\$37.12	\$37.12	0.0%
Daily Demurrage	\$3.47	\$3.47	0.0%
Monthly Demurrage (Max.)	\$104.54	\$104.54	0.0%
Special/Modified Box Rent (lid,scrn,winch/day)	\$4.98	\$4.98	0.0%
monthly maximum	\$149.98	\$149.98	0.0%
Waiting Time (per minute)	\$1.76	\$1.76	0.0%
Mileage Charge (over 10/mi)	\$3.22	\$3.22	0.0%
Locking System (materials plus labor @: per hr)	\$37.12	\$37.12	0.0%
"Check Only" (per check)	\$11.13	\$11.13	0.0%
Return Trip Charge	\$29.73	\$29.73	0.0%

Drop Box Trucking Fee (empty & return - roundtrip - VMC 6.12.211)

10-yard			
Drop Box	\$145.61	\$145.61	0.0%
Compactor	\$161.79	\$161.79	0.0%
20-yard			
Drop Box	\$145.61	\$145.61	0.0%
Compactor	\$161.79	\$161.79	0.0%
30-yard			
Drop Box	\$145.61	\$145.61	0.0%
Compactor	\$161.79	\$161.79	0.0%
40-yard			
Drop Box	\$145.61	\$145.61	0.0%
Compactor	\$161.79	\$161.79	0.0%

Page 3 Provides NEW Organics Hauling Drop Box Rates

Disposal Fees: (pass through of tipping fee, transaction fee & taxes)
 See box at left
 Yard Debris Fees: (pass through at current material processing rate)
 Other Divertable Materials accepted at local transfer stations:
 (pass through at current disposal fee or processing rate)

Tipping Fee at Columbia Resources Transfer Stations			
Municipal Solid Waste (\$/ ton)	\$95.71	\$95.71	0.0%
Drop Box Waste (\$/ ton)	\$84.98	\$84.98	0.0%
Plus - Transaction Fee (per load)	\$10.00	\$10.00	0.0%

Tipping Fees are set by Clark County.

1/29/2019 15:16

**NEW RATES for 4/1/19 (or later in 2019)
In Association with New Collection Contract &
Clark County Processing Fee**

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Apr-19	Change
Commercial Container Service (Non Compacted - VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$918.68	
1.5 Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$1,148.35	
Two Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$1,378.02	
Three Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$1,837.36	
Four Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$2,296.70	
Five Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$2,756.04	
Six Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$3,215.38	
Eight Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$4,134.06	

* Note: For Space Saver "Change" Column, the indicated percent is the savings over the Regular Container Rate for that service level

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Jan-20	Change
Commercial Compactor Container Service (VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$2,061.99	
1.5 Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$2,577.49	
Two Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$3,092.99	
Three Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$4,123.98	
Four Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$5,154.98	
Five Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$6,185.97	
Six Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$7,216.97	
Eight Yard Container (includes disposal)			
seven collections/week	NEW	\$9,278.96	

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Jan-20	Change
Commercial Container Service (Non Compacted - VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$131.24	\$131.90	0.5%
Commercial Compactor Container Service (VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal)			
once per week collection	\$294.57	\$296.04	0.5%

** Note: As a consequence of offering new "Space Saver" rates, all other commercial container rates will increase 0.5% (before CPI/fuel/tip fee/etc. adjustments) for 2020 - this increment of increase will apply to all scheduled container service levels in VMC 6.12.210

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Oct-19	Change
Residential Recycling & Residential/Commercial ORGANICS Fees (VMC 6.12.213)			
Single Family EOW Curbside	\$3.01	\$3.20	6.3%
B' Recyl Procesng Surcharge	NEW	\$1.77	
Multi-Family (per unit/month)	\$1.29	\$1.29	0.0%
Recyl Procesng Surcharge	NEW	\$0.78	

Curbside & Multi-family recycling rates also shown with garbage on page 1

ORGANICS Collection Service (every other week by subscription)			
Residential Subscription Options (Every Other Week - EOW by subscription):			
Basic subscription 96-gal.	\$7.43	\$7.43	0.0%
64-gallon (EOW)	NEW	\$6.43	
32-gallon (EOW)	NEW	\$5.43	
20-gallon (EOW)	NEW	\$4.43	
On-call/No Cart (per pickup)	\$5.67	Not Available after 9/31/19	
Commercial/Multi-Family Subscription Options::			
Every Other Week - 64-gal.	NEW	\$8.26	
Weekly - 64-gal	NEW	\$16.52	

Indicated Commercial/Multi-Family Organics rates apply if carts set at the curb for scheduled collection days - other Special Services detailed in VMC 6.12.210 may be added as additional charges for each collection if the cart(s) are not placed at the curb. Depending on location specific challenges, organics collection service may not be offered at all multifamily or commercial sites.

Available Service Levels	Monthly Charge		
	Jan-19	Apr-19	Change *
Space Saver Rate - Regular Containers at Space Constrained Locations (VMC 6.12.210)			
One Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$131.24	\$131.24	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$262.48	\$216.55	-17.5%
three collections/week	\$393.72	\$288.73	-26.7%
four collections/week	\$524.96	\$360.91	-31.3%
five collections/week	\$656.20	\$433.09	-34.0%
six collections/week	\$787.44	\$505.27	-35.8%
seven collections/week	NEW	\$649.64	-29.3%
1.5 Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$164.05	\$164.05	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$328.10	\$288.73	-12.0%
three collections/week	\$492.15	\$469.18	-4.7%
four collections/week	\$656.20	\$505.27	-23.0%
five collections/week	\$820.25	\$685.73	-16.4%
six collections/week	\$984.30	\$794.00	-19.3%
seven collections/week	NEW	\$974.46	-15.1%
Two Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$196.86	\$196.86	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$393.72	\$360.91	-8.3%
three collections/week	\$590.58	\$505.27	-14.4%
four collections/week	\$787.44	\$649.64	-17.5%
five collections/week	\$984.30	\$866.18	-12.0%
six collections/week	\$1,181.16	\$1,010.55	-14.4%
seven collections/week	NEW	\$1,154.91	-16.2%
Three Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$262.48	\$262.48	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$524.96	\$505.27	-3.8%
three collections/week	\$787.44	\$787.44	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,049.92	\$1,010.55	-3.8%
five collections/week	\$1,312.40	\$1,299.28	-1.0%
six collections/week	\$1,574.88	\$1,515.82	-3.8%
seven collections/week	NEW	\$1,732.37	-5.7%
Four Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$328.10	\$328.10	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$656.20	\$649.64	-1.0%
three collections/week	\$984.30	\$984.30	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,312.40	\$1,299.28	-1.0%
five collections/week	\$1,640.50	\$1,640.50	0.0%
six collections/week	\$1,968.60	\$1,948.91	-1.0%
seven collections/week	at left	\$2,296.70	0.0%
Five Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$393.72	\$393.72	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$787.44	\$787.44	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,181.16	\$1,181.16	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,574.88	\$1,574.88	0.0%
five collections/week	\$1,968.60	\$1,968.60	0.0%
six collections/week	\$2,362.32	\$2,362.32	0.0%
seven collections/week	at left	\$2,756.04	0.0%
Six Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$459.34	\$459.34	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$918.68	\$918.68	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,378.02	\$1,378.02	0.0%
four collections/week	\$1,837.36	\$1,837.36	0.0%
five collections/week	\$2,296.70	\$2,296.70	0.0%
six collections/week	\$2,756.04	\$2,756.04	0.0%
seven collections/week	at left	\$3,215.38	0.0%
Eight Yard Container (includes disposal w/in weight limits)			
once per week collection	\$590.58	\$590.58	0.0%
twice per week collection	\$1,181.16	\$1,181.16	0.0%
three collections/week	\$1,771.74	\$1,771.74	0.0%
four collections/week	\$2,362.32	\$2,362.32	0.0%
five collections/week	\$2,952.90	\$2,952.90	0.0%
six collections/week	\$3,543.48	\$3,543.48	0.0%
seven collections/week	at left	\$4,134.06	0.0%

Drop Box ORGANICS Trucking Fee (roundtrip haul - VMC 6.12.211)			
Effective October 1, 2019		Monthly Charge	
		MSW	Oct-19
10-yard	Drop Box	\$145.61	\$105.86
	Compactor	\$161.79	\$117.62
20-yard	Drop Box	\$145.61	\$105.86
	Compactor	\$161.79	\$117.62
30-yard	Drop Box	\$145.61	\$105.86
	Compactor	\$161.79	\$117.62
40-yard	Drop Box	\$145.61	\$105.86
	Compactor	\$161.79	\$117.62

Organics Tip Fees: (pass through at current material processing rate)
2019 West Van Organics Tip Fee (\$/ton): **\$73.49**

Other VMC 6.12.211 service rates apply to Organics drop boxes/compactors.

Certificate of Completion

Envelope Id: A127AADE864A49EC98040E341BC7B53A

Status: Completed

Subject: Documents from AIRLIFT for you to Sign

Source Envelope:

Document Pages: 57

Signatures: 3

Envelope Originator:

Certificate Pages: 2

Initials: 0

Amanda Delapena

AutoNav: Enabled

415 W. 6th Street

Envelopeld Stamping: Enabled

P.O. Box 1995

Time Zone: (UTC-08:00) Pacific Time (US & Canada)

Vancouver, WA 98668

amanda.delapena@cityofvancouver.us

IP Address: 52.38.239.238

Record Tracking

Status: Original

Holder: Amanda Delapena

Location: DocuSign

2/25/2019 7:48:58 PM

amanda.delapena@cityofvancouver.us

Security Appliance Status: Connected

Pool: City of Vancouver

Storage Appliance Status: Connected

Pool: City of Vancouver

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events

Anne McEnery-Ogle

anne.mcenery-ogle@cityofvancouver.us

City of Vancouver

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication (None)

Signature

DocuSigned by:

58CB15C0632F403...

Signature Adoption: Uploaded Signature Image

Using IP Address: 67.51.183.252

Timestamp

Sent: 2/25/2019 7:49:01 PM

Viewed: 2/25/2019 8:20:04 PM

Signed: 2/25/2019 8:20:12 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure:

Not Offered via DocuSign

E. Bronson Potter

bronson.potter@cityofvancouver.us

City of Vancouver

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication (None)

DocuSigned by:

AAC4768B6D2D446...

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 67.51.183.252

Sent: 2/25/2019 8:20:14 PM

Viewed: 2/28/2019 1:47:36 PM

Signed: 2/28/2019 1:47:46 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure:

Not Offered via DocuSign

Carrie Lewellen

carrie.lewellen@cityofvancouver.us

City of Vancouver

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication (None)

DocuSigned by:

661359AB277E439...

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 67.51.183.252

Sent: 2/28/2019 1:47:48 PM

Viewed: 2/28/2019 1:49:15 PM

Signed: 2/28/2019 1:49:33 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure:

Not Offered via DocuSign

In Person Signer Events

Signature

Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events

Status

Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events

Status

Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events

Status

Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events	Status	Timestamp
----------------------------------	---------------	------------------

Carbon Copy Events	Status	Timestamp
---------------------------	---------------	------------------

Notary Events	Signature	Timestamp
----------------------	------------------	------------------

Envelope Summary Events	Status	Timestamps
--------------------------------	---------------	-------------------

Envelope Sent	Hashed/Encrypted	2/28/2019 1:47:49 PM
Certified Delivered	Security Checked	2/28/2019 1:49:16 PM
Signing Complete	Security Checked	2/28/2019 1:49:33 PM
Completed	Security Checked	2/28/2019 1:49:33 PM

Payment Events	Status	Timestamps
-----------------------	---------------	-------------------